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Name of Property

County and State

5. Classification

Category of Property
(Check only one box)

Ownership of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply)

X private X buildings

X public-local [ district

[ public-State [ site

[ public-Federal [ structure
[ object

Name of related multiple property listings
(Enter “N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include any previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
1 0 buildings
0 0 sites
0 0 structures
0 0 objects
1 0 total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
Enter categories from instructions)

DEFENSE: Naval Facility

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

ENTERTAINMENT: Museum

DEFENSE: Military Facility

7. Description

Architectural Classification
Enter categories from instructions)

FRAME VERNACULAR

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation CONCRETE

walls WOOD

roof ASPHALT

ofther

Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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Name of Property County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria Areas of Significance
(Mark “x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property (Enter categories from instructions)
for National Register listing.)

MILITARY

X A Property is associated with events that have made

a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

[] B Property is associated with the lives of persons

significant in our past.

[] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics

of a type, period, or method of construction or

represents the work of a master, or possesses Period of Significance
high artistic values, or represents a significant and

distinguishable entity whose components lack 1942-1945

individual distinction.
1961-1968

[] D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield

information important in prehistory or history.
Significant Dates

Criteria Considerations 1942

(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

1961

Property is:

[] A owned by a religious institution or used for

religious purposes. Significant Person

N/A

X B removed from its original location.
Cultural Affiliation
[] C a birthplace or grave. N/A

[] D a cemetery.

[] E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
Architect/Builder

[ F a commemorative property. Architect: Unknown

Builder: United States Navy

[] G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography
Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)
Previous documentation on file (NPS): Primary location of additional data:
[] preliminary determination of individual listing (36 X State Historic Preservation Office
CFR 36) has been requested [] Other State Agency
[ previously listed in the National Register [] Federal agency
] previously determined eligible by the National [] Local government
Register L] University
[] designated a National Historic Landmark [] Other
[ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey Name of Repository
#

] recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #
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Name of Property County and State

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property lessthan 1

UTM References
(Place additional references on a continuation sheet.)

1l7] [s]s]o]2]o]s| |2]8]3]3|2]o]e] sl L L L
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

AENREENEEEN RN AEEREEEEEER RN

|:| See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Dr. Anthony Atwood, Executive Director; Andrew Waber, Historic Preservationist

oraanization Friends of the Military Museum of South Florida date February 2017
street & number 9337 Southwest 37 Street telephone _(305) 905-5196
citv or town  Miami state FL zio code 33165

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs

Representative black and white photographs  of the property.

Additional items
(check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name Mmultiple - see continuation sheet

street & number telephone

citv or town state zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to
list properties, and amend listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: ~ Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and
completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127,
Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.



NPS Form 10-900-a
OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 7 Page 1 Naval Air Station Richmond Headquarters
Miami, Miami-Dade County, Florida

Summary

The Naval Air Station (NAS) Richmond Headquarters Building is a three-story wood
frame vernacular building, built in a rectangular plan, topped with a gable roof. The main
entrance of the building features a near full-height pedimented portico with a gabled roof.
There is also a distinctive third story widow’s walk in the middle of the building. The
exterior of the building is near perfectly symmetrically balanced on both the east and west
wings of the building.

Although the building was relocated in 2010, it was moved to a location within the former
NAS Richmond base, and still maintains a visual connection to the remnants of the old

Navy blimp base and so retains its integrity of setting, feeling, and association. In an
extreme state of deterioration prior to its relocation, its exterior has been substantially
restored to its original appearance, except for the addition of a code-required accessibility
ramp and outside stairs at each end provided as secondary means of egress and safety exit.
The interior of the building still maintains its historic floorplan but is currently in an
incomplete state with temporary flooring, exposed wall studs, and temporary staircases.
Despite these interior changes, the building retains its integrity of design and materials,
especially on the exterior.

Setting

Miami-Dade County is a large county in south Florida that encompasses more than 2,000
square miles. One-third of the county is located in Everglades National Park. The county is
bounded by Biscayne Bay and the Atlantic Ocean to the east, Everglades National Park to
the west, the Florida Keys to the south, and Broward County to the north. The county has a
large population and heavy development largely along the Atlantic coast. It comprises 34
municipalities, the largest of which is the city of Miami, and as of 2015 the county had an
estimated population of over 2.6 million peoplEhe NAS Richmond Headquarters is

located within Gold Coast Railroad Museum Park, a county owned park adjacent to Zoo

! Miami-Dade County, “About Us http://www.miamidade.gov/info/about_miami-dade.asp
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Miami. The remnants of the original blimp base, most notably the concrete pylon from the
blimp hangar and the runways, are still visible. The land immediately around the building
is largely underdeveloped but it is surrounded by intensive development from the City of
Miami (Photo #1).

Physical Description
Exterior

The NAS Richmond Headquarters Building is a three-story wood frame vernacular
building with Colonial Revival influences built in a rectangular plan faced in wood
horizontal weatherboard®hoto #2). The building is raised off the ground on concrete
foundation piers, rebuilt to new code requirements following its relocation. A continuous
concrete foundation wall spans the space between the concrete piers.

The building has a side facing gable roof with gray composition shingles of identical
appearance to the original material. The roof is punctuated by twelve gabled dormers,
distributed six to the front (north) and six to the rear (south) of the building. The dormer
roofs have ends that form pediments similar to the main pediment over the central portico
(Photo #3).

Main (North) Facade

The main (north) facade has fourteen double hung windows, in a 6/6 light pattern across
the first story, and fifteen windows across the second story, all flanking the symmetrically
placed central entranceway. Windows have plain wood surrounds with a slightly projecting
sill. The first story's uniform window rhythm is interrupted by the centrally located front
doorway and by a narrow, 4/4 window located between the fourth and fifth bays from the
right end of the front elevation. The uniform rhythm of the second story is interrupted by a
similar narrow 4/4 window, located between the second and third bays from the end of the
front elevation. Most windows have wood paneled shuttéiisot #4)
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The main entrance consists of nine-light glazed double doors recessed from the main plane
of the front wall topped with a seven-light transom. Wood door surrounds topped by a
keystone frame the doorwalgh{oto #5). The main entrance is accented by a two-story
portico, three bays wide, with a cross gable projecting from the main roof of the building.
The cross gable over the entranceway forms a pediment, highlighted by a centrally located
fanlight window Photo #6). The portico is supported by an unadorned architrave carried

by four two-story wooden posts with simple bases and capitals. The entrance is accessed
through six concrete steps stretching across the portico's three bay Rivayth7). A

ramp has been added to the right end of the portico, parallel to the front elevation of the
building, to provide accessibility for the disabled, as part of the exterior restoration work
(Photo #8).

East and West Elevations

The east and west elevations are identical, five bays wide, with two sets of windows on
either side of centrally located doorways on both stoRastps 9-10). The doors on the

side elevations are temporary. Windows are the same double hung sash, 6/6 type as those
on the front elevation. There is a double door on the first story and a single door on the
second story. These are preceded by two-story central entrance porticoes that provide
access to the interior of the building from both elevations. The porticoes closely match that
of the facade, but span only one bay in width. The projecting pedimented portico roofs are
supported on sets of double wood posts. A small balcony on the second story of each
portico is surrounded by a simple wood railing. A set of wooden stairs landing on the
second story balcony has been added to the left of each side facade, as part of building
code requirements to provide secondary means of egress to the second floor and to the
limited third floor spaces. The wooden stairs have the same simple wood railing as the
second story balconies.

Rear (South) Elevation

On the rear (south) elevation of the building, there are two rows of seven 6/6 double hung
sash windows on both stories flanking the widow’s w&tkoto #11). The windows are
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nearly identical to the windows found on other elevations of the headquarters with wood
shutters. There are also three gabled dormers on each side of the widow’s walk. The
otherwise continuous window rhythm along both stories of the rear elevation is interrupted
at this central bay, as windows shift up on the facade to indicate interior stair landings. On
the rear first story, the window on the sixth bay from the right end of the elevation has
been replaced by a simple wooden door accessed by a small stdtuaee?]2).

Widow's Walk

A widow's walk structure topped by a simple wood railing is recessed from the front
elevation at roof level, located to correspond with the three central bays of the entrance
portico below. This railing is identical to those on the stairs and balconies on the side
elevations Photo #13). The widow's walk structure has three windows across the front and
a smaller window along the sides. Along the rear elevation, the widow's walk structure
narrows in width to one bay and projects out, interrupting the otherwise continuous roof
slope, and becoming flush with the wall surface below. This treatment clearly defines a
central stair tower.

Interior

The interior of this building is in unfinished condition, with temporary flooring, exposed

wall studs, and temporary staircases. The recessed double doors at the entrance on the first
floor open into a central foyer space, which leads to a central staircase located across the
hallway that provides access to both the second floor and the thirdPaeed ¢14). The
staircases providing access to all three levels are of a temporary Ritot@s ¢#15- 16)

The interior space of all three levels are symmetrically divided by hallways that run the full
length of the building along both the first and second floors and along the limited spaces at
the third floor level Photos #17-19). Offices, restrooms, and storage spaces open off the
main hallways on all three levelBH{otos #20-22). The east portion of both the first and
second floors have generally larger interior spaces while the west portions of both floors
hold the bathrooms and office spaces. The many windows located off these hallways
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provided much needed light and ventilation to interior spaces during pre-air conditioning
days.

At the third level, spaces are contained within the widow's walk stru@®hoeq#23) and
in the small attic areas on either side of the central hallway, where dormer windows are
located Photo #24).

Alterations

The building was moved from its original location inside the Richmond Naval Air Station
in 2010 as a condition for restoration and reuse. The highly deteriorated and nearly
collapsing structure was structurally stabilized in place prior to being moved in one piece
to its new location.

The building's new location, approximately half a mile from its original location, is within
Miami-Dade County Parks and Recreation land, which was originally part of the Naval Air
Station property, given to the County under the Federal Lands to Parks Program. Building
25's new location is in close proximity, both geographically and historically, to its original
site. It is now located just south of the hangar units, rather than its original location to the
north of the hangars. Its new location will allow for the preservation of this important
historic site and for its interpretive use as the Miami Military Museum, for the cultural and
educational benefit of the public.

Nothing in its exterior restoration and ongoing substantial interior rehabilitation has been
done to change the building's historical integrity as a military headquarters. Among the
changes to the exterior include an accessibility ramp, placed parallel to the main exterior
elevation Photo #8); two staircases were placed to the left of the side elevation porticoes

to provide secondary means of egress/exit to upper floor sgluateg #9-10); and a

small staircase was added onto the rear elevation as a requirement for secondary means of
egressiPhoto #12). On the east and west elevations, there were metal antenna rods
protruding from the roof of the building. These were contemporary to the building, dating

to 1942, and were removed when the building was relocated. A coat of arms of the US
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Navy Airship Command adorned the space above the doorway during the building's period
of historical significance. The coat of arms has since been removed. During World War 1I,
the rear dormer windows were fitted with large fans to assist in air circulation, which have
since been removed.

In the 1980s, the Marine Corps added a small addition and a brick chimney to the rear of
the property Photo #25). The addition housed shower stalls and a hot water tank. There
were also modern aluminum ventilation fans added adjacent to the bathroom windows on
the rear elevation of the building, which were removed along with the addition and
chimney circa 1999.

Integrity

This building was relocated to its present site in 2010. The relocation was necessary
because the federal landlord agency could not allow the building to be restored for public
access in situ for security reasons. The Army Corps of Engineers offered to sell the historic
building to the Friends of the Miami Military Museum on the condition that it be moved

off federal land. The National Park Service Southeast Regional Office approved the
agreement allowing the building to be relocated, under a Restrictive Covenant that it be
used solely for historic cultural purposes.

Although relocated, the building was moved to a nearby location within the historic Naval
Air Station Richmond base boundaries, mitigating its impact upon its integrity. It

maintains its visual connection to the remnants of the blimp base operations, most notably
the large concrete pylon, which is the last remnant of the large distinctive blimp hangars.
Although the general setting has changed since the 1940s with the construction of a zoo
and nearby suburban development, the building retains integrity of setting, feeling, and
association.

The interior space has required complete reconstruction due to its advanced state of
deterioration. Much of the interior was stripped shortly after the building was relocated
onto its current site. The interior is currently in an incomplete state with temporary
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flooring, exposed wall studs, and temporary staircases. Despite this, the interior layout has
remained the same, with the wall studs still framing the original spaces in the building.
Despite this change, the building as a whole, especially on the exterior, retains much of its
original materials and design. A restoration is currently underway which is preserving the
surviving materials and design on the interior to the greatest extent possible.
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Summary

The Naval Air Station (NAS) Richmond Headquarters Building is nominated for listing in
the National Register of Historic Places at the local, state, and national levels under
Criterion A in the area of Military. The building served as the headquarters for NAS
Richmond during World War Il. The base itself served as the operational headquarters for
the Navy’s Lighter Than Air (LTA) operations along the Gulf of Mexico, Florida, and the
Caribbean. When it was completed in 1942, it was one of the largest blimp bases in the
world, with three massive wood hangars. The blimps stationed at Richmond were part of
the elaborate military response to the heavy losses of merchant vessels early in the war.
The improvement of security in shipping lanes and the defeat of German U-boats kept vital
supply lines open to Europe and played a pivotal role in Allied victory in World War Il.

The building attains its national significance for its connection to the Central Intelligence
Agency (CIA). After the war, the CIA used the Headquarters building extensively. Starting
in 1961, the former NAS Richmond served as the headquarters for CIA covert operations
in Miami with the codename JMWAVE. At the height of the Cold War, JMWAVE was the
largest CIA field station in the worfd. Agents stationed here were heavily involved in
several key operations at the time, including the Cuban Missile Crisis, Operation
Mongoose, and the Second Naval Guerilla operations. The period of significance extends
from the 1942 to 1945 and from 1961 to 1968, when covert operations were significantly
reduced.

Historic Context

Richmond Timber Company

The location chosen for NAS Richmond was in a largely undeveloped area in southwest
Dade County. It takes its name from the Richmond Timber Company, a large lumber

2 Cold War in South Florida: Historic Resource Study. National Park Service. Southeast Regional Office.
Atlanta, GA. 2004. 65.
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operation that owned much of the land in the area and operated a sawmill near the site of
the basé.

Dirigibles in Military Service

In the early years of aviation, dirigibles were far more reliable and carried with them a
better reputation than the conventional airplanes of the time. The first commercial aerial
transport company, founded in 1909 by Count Ferdinand von Zeppelin, utilized rigid frame
dirigibles?

At the start of World War |, the Germans used their fleet of zeppelins extensively. The first
civilian aerial bombing campaign occurred in 1914, when a fleet of zeppelins bombed the
city of Antwerp. The German zeppelins also launched a series of bombing raids on the city
of London. The airships proved largely ineffective in offensive operations. They became
particularly vulnerable later in the war as advancements were made in airplane technology,
including the introduction of incendiary bullets. Naval observers, however, saw
tremendous potential in airships as defensive weapons. The British in particular recognized
their value, and began developing non-rigid airships known as blimps intended for anti-
mine and anti-submarine patrdls.

The history of the US Navy’s involvement with airships began in Florida. In 1915, the

Navy conducted a series of experiments with a non-rigid dirigible at Naval Air Station

(NAS) Pensacola. Although the tests were a failure, the military saw enough potential to
push forward with an airship program. In 1917, the Army and the Navy formed a joint
Airship Board to explore the possibility of creating a dirigible fleet. The Navy’s Lighter

Than Air (LTA) program began in earnest the same year as the federal government ordered
the construction of 16 airships. The US Navy ultimately decided to use non-rigid dirigibles

3 David Macfie, “Richmond Naval Air Station 1942-1961.” Tequesta. Vol. 1. No. 37. 1977, 38.

4 William F. Althoff, Sky Ships: A History of the Airship in the United States Navy (Pacifica, CA: Pacifica
Press, 1990), 1-2.
5 bid., 2-3.
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for their fleet, borrowing heavily from the British in the design of the B-type non-rigid
airship selected for serviée.

The US Navy’s long association with the Goodyear Company also began at this time. The
federal government ordered 9 of the 16 airships from Goodyear. The company also
assumed responsibility for training, opening a special training facility at Wingfoot Lake
near the factory in Akron, Ohio, in 1917. In the short period of time before the Armistice

in 1918, the small American airship fleet logged over 13,000 hours primarily on convoy
escort duty watching for submarines and mihes.

After the war, the military expressed continued interest in airships. As aircraft carriers
were still in their infancy and planes remained relatively unreliable, there was interest in
developing dirigibles as offensive weapons. The Navy acquired NAS Lakehurst in New
Jersey in 1921 to serve as the center of the LTA program. Focus shifted to working with
German style rigid aircraft, and to accommodate them, a massive hangar, Hangar No. 1,
was constructed at Lakehurst. During the 1920s and 1930s, the base and program received
international attention. In all, five massive rigid airships were commissioned. Four of these
ships crashed, including the USS Macon and USS Akron, which were the largest aircraft in
the world when built. These crashes, along with the failed fleet exercises, were public
relations disasters for the LTA program. A second LTA base was constructed around this
time at Sunnvale, California, which for a brief period replaced Lakehurst as the center of
dirigible testing and research in the Navy. The federal government reached an agreement
with the German airship company DELAG to use Lakehurst as an international airport for
its zeppelin fleet flying commercial operations across the Atlantic. The high profile crash

of the Hindenberg outside of Lakehurst effectively ended any interest in continuing the use
of rigid dirigibles in the Navy or on a commercial basis. By the late 1930s, the LTA
program consisted of a small fleet of non-rigid airships confined to two bases.

8 1bid., 3-5.
" Althoff. 5-6.
81bid., 11-12, 108-112, 133-150.
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By the late 1930s, as World War Il began in Europe, coastal defenses became a priority as
German U-boats started targeting merchant shipping. The involvement of Navy airships
into the conflict began in 1939 when the small fleet at Lakehurst began escorting merchant
ships. In 1940, as part of the federal government’s “10,000 Plane Program,” 48 blimps
were ordered. With this expansion came a need for an expansion of facilities. Bases were
opened in South Weymouth, Massachusetts; Weeksville, North Carolina; and near San
Francisco, California. Work was underway on South Weymouth and Weeksville when the
Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor in December 1941, officially marking the United States’
entry into World War 1P

Miami-Dade County during World War Il

Following the entry of the United States into World War Il, the federal government built
numerous military installations across the state, including in the Miami-Dade County area.
Florida’s location between the Atlantic, Gulf, and Caribbean shipping lanes has long made
it an important base for naval operations and in World War Il it was no different. The
military brought hundreds of thousands of service men and women into tH& Enés.
generated a boon for the state, which was still reeling from the collapse of the Land Boom
in the late 1920s and the subsequent Great Depression. In addition to NAS Richmond,
Dade County served as the home to the Miami Beach Training Center, one of the largest
Army Air Force training centers in the United States. Utilizing the world-class hotels built
in Miami Beach, over half a million servicemen were trained in Miami Beach alone.
Another 100,000 servicemen were stationed at NAS Miami in Opa-Locka, Florida. After
the war, many of them returned to the area and contributed to the massive growth of
Miami-Dade County that took place in the 1950s and 1960s.

9 Althoff. 158-159.

10 Gary Mormino. “World War Il,”_The New History of Florida. Edit. Michael Gannon. (Gainesville, FL:
University Press of Florida, 1996), 323.

1 bid. 325-330.
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Historic Significance

Naval Air Station Richmond

Shortly after the United States entered World War 1l, the German U-boats began openly
attacking merchant shipping. The opening stages of the Battle of the Atlantic did not go
well for the Allies. Safety precautions to protect shipping were almost nonexistent. Ships
operated alone with virtually no military escort and blackouts were not in place along busy
seaports. In the first six months of the conflict alone, German U-boats sank 360 merchant
ships. The implementation and expansion of protective measures was a high priority for
the Navy, and the LTA program was part of the larger vi&idre Florida Straits and the
Caribbean were of tremendous maritime value. They were prime targets for submarines.
In mid-1942, the LTA fleet expanded to 120 airships, which mandated more facilities. The
Navy acquired 2,100 acres on the edge of the Everglades south of Miami to construct the
largest blimp base south of Lakehurst.

Technological advances had led to the Type-K airships, flexible balloons contorted by
cables into an ideal aerodynamic shape. Lightweight, safe and inexpensive, the K-Class of
airships were ideal surveillance platforms for anti-submarine warfare. From the control car
gondola suspended beneath the airship envelope, blimps carried a ten-man crew armed
with radio, radar, four depth charges, and a machine gun. Known by their crews as “King
Ships,” they could patrol on station for indefinite periods of time, suspended over the
critical ocean chokepoints. Their presence overhead forced the U-boats to remain
submerged. Underwater the U-boat’s speed was reduced to a 4-knot crawl. Equally
important, if forced to remain underwater too long the U-boat ran out of oxygen. The U-
boat was forced to retreat. The Goodyear Company manufactured 135 K-Class airships for
the Navy and the war effotf.

12 Althoff, Sky Ships, 165.
13 Gordon J. Vaeth, Blimps and U-boats (Annapolis, MD: Naval Institute Press, 1992), 27-35.
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Image of Blimp Handling Activity at NAS Richmond, circa 1940s (source unknown).

NAS Richmond was the center of LTA activity in the Caribbean. Three enormous 16-story
wooden hangars, 170 feet tall, 1000 feet long, and 270 feet wide were built. Because of
the wartime need for steel elsewhere, the hangars were constructed of Douglas Fir brought
in from Oregon by train on a spur line of the Florida East Coast Railroad constructed by
the Navy. The onsite barracks, chow hall, bachelor officer quarters, and hospital were built
of local pine. A helium processing plant and LTA service schools were also part of the
base. Construction of the base and its huge hangars employed thousands of civilians and
was never considered compléte.

Stationed at NAS Richmond was Navy Zeppelin Patrol Squadron (ZP) 21, the largest in
the Airship Command, with as many as 20 blimps assigned. Other squadrons reported to

14 Macfie, “Richmond Naval Air Station 1942-1961,” 42.
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NAS Richmond, including Squadron ZP-22 based at Houma, Louisiana, Squadron ZP-23

in Vernam Field, Jamaica, and ZP-24, in Hitchcock, Texas. Together they made up Fleet
Airship Wing Two, which was headquartered at NAS Richmond HQ Building 25. Its Area

of Responsibility (AOR) included Texas, Florida, the Gulf of Mexico and the Mississippi
passes, Cuba, and the critical sea passages of the Caribbean, including the Panama Canal.

The Assembly and Repair Facility serviced all seven airship squadrons in the Caribbean
and the south Atlantic extending to Brazil. Particularly important to the war effort was
support for ZP-41, ZP-42, and ZP-51, guarding the convoy hub at Trinidad and the vital
Brazilian bauxite shipments destined for American foundries and aluminum prodiiction.

Subordinate NAF (naval air facilities) including landing mats and assigned ground crews,
which were built at Key West, NAS Banana River (Cape Canaveral), Isle of Pines,
Havana, Guantanamo, Jamaica and Puerto Rico. NAS Richmond flew blimp patrols
around the clock throughout the Gulf-Sea Frontier.

15 vaeth, Blimps and U-Boats, 101.
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Flag raising ceremony in front of Headquarters Building, 1942 (source unknown).

During World War I, the first floor of the Headquarters contained the pre-flight/post-flight
briefing/debriefing room for aviators on patrol missions, and the offices for the base
commander, the operational blimp squadron commander, and Airship Wing Two. The
Commodore/Rear Admiral who commanded blimp and anti-submarine warfare (ASW) for
the Gulf of Mexico, Florida Straits, and the Caribbean Sea was also stationed at Richmond.
The only telephone line into the base led to the Headquarters, which was connected to a
rotary telephone set on the Wing Commander's desk. The second floor contained the
communications gear for the base; radio and teletype rooms and secure intelligence and
base cryptology areas. The Officer of the Day, disbursing (payroll), provost (military

police) and other administrative functions were also exercised frontthere.

6 Richmond LTA News. NAS Richmond Base Newspaper. Vol.1. No.22. April 15, 1944.
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Image of African-American Navy Band at NAS Richmond, circa 1943 (source unknown).

A Glenn Miller-type military band was organized, consisting of 17 African-American
musicians who had all been students at the Julliard School of Music before being drafted
into the Navyt’ The band toured across Florida and the base hosted regular U.S.O. dances
and war bond drives. Numerous allied foreign dignitaries toured NAS Richmond. Among
these were Brazilian generals, the Mexican ambassador and the crown prince of Saudi
Arabial®

Approximately 3,000 personnel were deployed at NAS Richmond at the peak of the war.
Among them was a contingent of Marines who provided base security and a detachment of
12 Navy WAVES (Women Accepted for Volunteer Emergency Service), whose activities
freed up servicemen for combat assignméhkundreds of Goodyear technicians, draftees

7 Richmond LTA News. Vol. Il. No.22. Sept. 15, 1945
8 |bid. Vol.l. No.18. January 29, 1944.
2 bid. Vol.l. No.22. April 15, 1944,
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and civilians were also present at Richmond. The base was used for the rest and
recuperation of front line troops, including Marine Corps survivors of the Battle of Tarawa
and the Pacific who convalesced at the base hospital.

On July 18, 1943, the airship K-74 departed NAS Richmond to patrol the Florida Straits
after a pre-flight crew briefing at HQ Building 25Just before midnight the K-74 homed

in on a radar blip in the middle of the straits, south of Matecumbe Key, Florida. The moon
revealed Nazi U-134, surfaced and moving into position to attack two merchant ships in
the area. The airship went to General Quarters and courageously engaged the enemy with
machine gun fire and bomB%.The enemy responded with its own anti-aircraft guns. The
blimp was shot down and the Navy bombardier, AMM2 Isadore Stessel, was killed in
action?® The K-74 got off a mayday as it crashed at sea. This was the only recorded
instance of direct combat between a blimp and a submarine during World ¥#/ar 1.
Although the Navy scaled back much of its activities on the east coast by the end of 1945,
NAS Richmond remained a center of much activity. In March 1945, the House Naval
Affairs Committee approved appropriations for an additional 70 housing units for base
personnef® On the night the hangars were destroyed, 156 officers, 832 enlisted men, and
516 civilian employees remained stationed there. This all changed overnight.

20 |bid. Vol.l. No.9. August 4, 1943.

21 Zeppelin Patrol (ZP) Squadron 21. US Navy. Combat Action Report. July 21, 1943.

22 War Diary, US Navy Gulf Sea Frontier. July 18, 19, 20, 1943.

23 The Daily Mirror. New York, NY. July 31, 1943. Page 1.

24 Samuel Eliot Morison, History of US Naval Operations in WWII, Vol. II. (Boston, MA: Little Brown,
1961), 194.

2 Macfie, Blimps and U-boats, 43.
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Image of NAS Richmond hangar fire, 1945
(source: Richmond LTA News, Vol. Il, No. 22, September 15, 1945, page 8)

On September 14, 1945, a hurricane came ashore in south Dade County, directly hitting
Richmond NAS. That night the base was lashed by 100 mph winds. Fire of unknown
origin broke out in Hangar One. Within minutes the hangar was blazing from stem to stern.
The wind carried the flames to the other hangars, which also burst into flames. The storm
was not raining at this time and the huge buildings and their highly combustible contents
blazed out of control. The base fire chief, Harry Schultz, was killed fighting thé fire.
Thirty-six sailors were injure. It was the largest loss of federal property in peacetime.
Three airship hangars, 366 military and civilian training aircraft, and 25 blimps were
destroyed overnight. The extant buildings of the base were still in useable condition, but

26 Certificate of Death ICO Harry Henry Schultz. No11550909. Registrar’s File 2445. Sept. 17, 1945.
2" The Miami Herald. Sept. 16-19, 1945. Front pages.
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without the hangars NAS Richmond ceased active operations in November 1945. The land
remained in federal contré.

Following the end of World War II, the LTA program saw significant reductions. By 1947,
LTA operations on the west coast ended. Goodyear purchased many of the surplus blimps,
which were used during the postwar period as elaborate advertisements. After a brief but
small buildup during the Korean War, all operations were eventually confined to Lakehurst
and South Weymouth by the end of the 1950s. The Navy ended its LTA program in 1961.

The Cold War

After World War I, the United States and the Soviet Union emerged as the two dominant
world superpowers. Although allies during the war, relations deteriorated as mutual
distrust and rivalry between the two nations led to start of the Cold War. Tensions in the
United States were especially heightened following the Soviet Union’s occupation of
Eastern Europe and the successful testing of nuclear bomb technology stolen from the
United States. A fear of the global spread of Communism and a repeat of past mistakes that
resulted in World War Il led the United States to depart from a previously isolationist
foreign policy. As a result, while there was still a major drawdown following the end of
World War Il, the United States kept a much larger and more active peacetime military
presence than after previous wars. The focus of American foreign policy shifted towards
containing Communism.

The beginning of Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) activities in Florida date to 1953. At
this time, Jacobo Arbenz came to power in Guatemala and implemented a land
redistribution program. The United Fruit Company, a major landowner in the country,
stood to lose a significant amount of money. They used their influence to convince the
federal government that Arbenz’s policy was the first step in a radical movement and that
Arbenz himself was a Communist sympathizer. In response, the CIA began Operation
PBSUCCESS, which ran out of the Miami suburb of Opa Locka, Flétiflae operation,

28 Macfie, Blimps and U-boats, 45.
29 Cold War in South Florida, NPS, 11.
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which led to Arbenz’s overthrow in 1954, was a complete success. The CIA launched air
raids, conducted radio broadcasts, and trained operatives from Opa®.ocka.

The success of PBSUCCESS established the US government’s containment policy in Latin
America. In many cases, the US government supported right wing dictatorships as a better
alternative to leftwing Communist-leaning regimes. A classic example of this was
Fulgencio Batista, who ruled Cuba as dictator for most of the 1950s.

JMWAVE

By 1959, as Fidel Castro’s 2&f July Movement seized control of Cuba, the first wave of
political refugees arrived in the Miami area. Many Americans initially viewed Castro with
favor as an upgrade over the notoriously corrupt Batista regime. This began to change,
however when Communists within the movement began to exert power and influence over
government. Castro also started nationalizing many of the large American land holdings in
Cuba. This led to a significant deterioration in Cuban-American relations. By 1961,
diplomatic ties between the two countries were sevéred.

Washington viewed these latest developments with alarm. Fearful of the spread of
Communism both in Cuba and throughout Latin America, they immediately moved to
undermine the new regime. The initial wave of Batista supporters who arrived in Miami
were followed by a larger wave of anti-Communist exiles. The CIA established the Miami
Station in 1959, placing Jay Gleichauf in charge. The first station was located in Coral
Gables and was primarily an overt operation, concerned with interviewing and gathering
intelligence from recent arrivals. By 1960, hoping to repeat the success of Arbenz’s
overthrow, the CIA expanded into covert operations. The Miami Station played a role in
the Bay of Pigs invasion, recruiting most of the members of the ill-fated Brigade 2506.
Most of the training and planning for this invasion took place outside of Miami, however.
The planning for the invasion, which was approved and began under the administration of

30 Don Bohning, The Castro Obsession: U.S. Covert Operations Against Cuba (Washington: Potomac Books,
Inc., 2005), 19.
31 Cold War in South Florida, NPS, 14-15.




NPS Form 10-900-a
OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 8 Page 14 Naval Air Station Richmond Headquarters
Miami, Miami-Dade County, Florida

President Dwight D. Eisenhower, changed considerably. Political compromises that led to
key changes such as the moving of the invasion spot and reduction of necessary air support
doomed the operation from the st#rtThe Bay of Pigs invasion, which occurred in April

1961, turned out to be a complete disaster, making it one of the biggest international
embarrassments of John F. Kennedy’s presid&hcy.

As a result of the Bay of Pigs, the relationship between the Kennedy Administration and
the CIA deteriorated to one of distrust. The fallout from the incident led to the resignation
of many top CIA officials, including Director Allen Dulles and Richard M. Bissell, who
personally directed the CIA’s Bay of Pigs operations. President John F. Kennedy and his
brother Attorney General Robert F. Kennedy made the removal of Castro the number one
foreign policy issue of the federal government, but wished to do so in a manner that
allowed for plausible deniability. Out of this arose Operation Mongoose, a covert CIA
program utilizing infiltration, sabotage, assassinations, and intelligence gathering for the
sole purpose of toppling Casttb.

32 Bohning, The Castro Obsession: U.S. Covert Operations Against Cuba, 66-67, 129-130.
33 Cold War in South Florida, NPS, 19.
34 Bohning, The Castro Obsession: U.S. Covert Operations Against Cuba, 79-82.
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k

Image of NAS icond Headquaters Bilmg during th MWVE era, a. 1962. (source: "Revelation
1963 Directorio Revolucionario Estudiantil de Cuba," Miami New Times, April 12-18, 2001, page 6.)

By 1961, the CIA moved its covert operations center in Miami to the former NAS
Richmond Headquarters Building, which they codenamed JMWAVE. Operation
Mongoose, placed under the nominal control of Edward Lansdale, moved into the
Headquarters Building. The real driving force behind Operation Mongoose was Robert
Kennedy, who exerted tremendous pressure on the CIA. Operating under the fictitious
name of Zenith Technical Enterprises, the CIA leased the area from the University of
Miami. The CIA presence here turned out to be a tremendous boon to the local eEdnomy.
The first floor of the Headquarters contained the offices of the station chief and case
officers administering clandestine operations and managing operatives. It was
honeycombed with wiring that allowed for secret communications and messaging with
operatives in Cuba. At its height in 1962, there were between 300-400 agents stationed
here, making it the largest CIA base outside of Langley, Virdhia.

35 Cold War in South Florida, NPS, 20.
36 Bohning, The Castro Obsession: U.S. Covert Operations Against Cuba, 129-133.
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Perhaps the biggest impact of Operation Mongoose came during the Cuban Missile Crisis.
Although the guerilla attacks and sabotage operations were largely ineffective in
weakening Castro’s control, they contributed greatly to stoking Cuban and Soviet fears of
an American invasion. The guerillas responsible for these attacks were trained in various
safe houses around Miami. They also received military supplies and money from CIA
agents and reported to case workers stationed at JMWAVE. Intelligence gathered from
both the covert base at IMWAVE and overt operations in Miami soon brought reports of a
Soviet military buildup in Cuba. Acting upon these suspicions, U-2 spy planes confirmed
the presence of nuclear missiles and launching facilities being constructed by Soviet
military advisors. The presence of these missiles so close to the United States sent shock
waves through the US governméntith midterm elections close by in 1962, there was
significant pressure on the Kennedy Administration to act.

The ensuing Cuban Missile Crisis, which took place in October 1962, marked a tense and
potentially fatal standoff between the United States and the Soviet Union. The CIA
personnel stationed in Miami began mobilization planning with the military, fully
anticipating a possible armed conflict between the two countries. The US Navy established
a blockade around Cuba. Eventually calmer heads prevailed and the United States and the
Soviet Union reached a diplomatic solution. In exchange for a pledge from the Americans
not to invade Cuba without provocation and to remove missiles in Italy and Turkey, the
Soviet Union would remove the nuclear missiles in Cuba. The CIA stationed at JMWAVE
played a crucial role in conducting intelligence over Cuba during and immediately after the
crisis. Their reports of the continued buildup of the nuclear missiles and the presence of an
estimated 45,000 Soviet troops in Cuba later turned out to be acturate.

After of the failed Bay of Pigs invasion and the Cuban Missile Crisis, the United States
was far more reluctant to carry out covert actions. The removal or weakening of Castro
remained a priority, however. To help better organize their response, the Interdepartmental
Organization for Cuban Affairs was created. The IOCA, which had direct oversight of CIA
operations in Miami, fell under the jurisdiction of the State Department. The federal

37 Cold War in South Florida, NPS, 21.
38 Bohning, The Castro Obsession: U.S. Covert Operations Against Cuba, 112-113, 121-128.
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government opened an IOCA satellite office in Miami, which served as a de facto embassy
for the Cuban exile community. The CIA office at JMWAVE, as the center of covert
operations, became a major part of the IOEA.

In the final years of the Kennedy administration, JMWAVE served at the forefront of
official anti-Castro activities. The attention returned to providing material aid for guerilla
groups, most notably those under the command of Manuel Artime and Manuel Ray.
Mindful of the political ramifications involved, the US government, guided by Robert
Kennedy’s philosophy of “let Cubans be Cubans,” merely provided material and logistical
support without directly influencing their day-to-day operations. The CIA station at
JMWAVE was responsible for providing the supplies and money for the groups. This
policy changed, however, in 1964, when guerillas under Artime unknowingly attacked a
Spanish freighter, mistaking it for a Cuban ship. This incident marked the beginning of the
end for these groups and would have ended the program completely were it not for the
AMLASH operation?°

Following the arrival of Desmond Fitzgerald as head of the CIA’s Special Affairs Staff in
1963, he divided covert operations into two spheres of responsibility: internal and external.
External responsibilities consisted of supporting autonomous groups based in Florida while
internal consisted of handling groups based in Cuba. The CIA scored a major victory in
September 1963, when they successfully recruited Manuel Cubela, whom they codenamed
AMLASH, to work with them. Cubela, who was a high-ranking Communist Party official,
provided the CIA with its best chance of stirring dissension from within. Connecting

Cubela with Artime, an elaborate assassination scheme was planned as Castro and a
number of high ranking Communist officials celebrated July @ emonies in 1965.

Concerns over the security of communications led to the CIA calling off the operation.
Cubela was eventually arrested and sentenced to 20 years in prison. After this operation
fell through, funding for autonomous groups dried*tp.

39 |bid., 150-153.
40 Bohning, The Castro Obsession: U.S. Covert Operations Against Cuba, 201-203, 214.
41 bid., 222-235.
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In the June 16, 1964, edition lobok magazine, the cover for IMWAVE was blown as it
was revealed that Zenith Technical Enterprises was a CIA front. This made the base a
liability. As the administration of Lyndon B. Johnson focused more towards Vietnam,
covert operations in Miami largely ceased. In 1965, Operation Mongoose officially came
to an end. Operations came to an end at JMWAVE in 1968 and the CIA reduced its
presence in Miami, limiting work primarily to intelligence gathertAg.

The building was later used from the 1970s until 1992 as an Army Reserve Center, and a
Marine Corps Reserve Center. In the wake of the 1992 Hurricane Andrew all the
remaining buildings of the base were removed by the Army Corps of Engineers (COE),
except for the HQ Admin Building 25. Its removal was prevented by the Florida Bureau of
Historic Preservation. The COE fenced it off and abandoned it to demolition by neglect.
In 1992, having completed its mission from WWII through the Cold War era, the building
was fenced off, boarded up and declared in excess. The building's advanced degree of
deterioration made it unsafe for further use or occupation. To save the building it was
moved in 2010 from the sensitive government area approximately %2 mile south onto
Miami-Dade County Parks and Recreation Zoo Miami lands. These lands of the former
NAS Richmond Base were donated by the DOD to Miami-Dade County under the Federal
Lands to Parks Program in 1979. The building was moved from just north of the hangar
ruins to just south of the hangar rufiislt continued to face north and is on two acres
provided by Parks and Recreation adjacent to the Zoo Miami, and immediately next to the
Gold Coast Railroad Museum, which is situated on the ruins of a blimp hangar and uses
the original Navy railroad spur line.

42 |bid., 130, 252-253.
43 Miami Herald. Front page local, May 24, 2010
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LTA Bases

Image of construction of NAS Richmond blimp hangar, 1942 (source unknown).

NAS Richmond was one of only a small handful of LTA bases established in the United
States, the Caribbean, and on the east coast of South America. NAS Richmond represents
the last generation of LTA bases, when wartime necessity dictated both an expansion of
available facilities and available materials for construction. The two bases perhaps most
associated with the LTA program, NAS Lakehurst and NAS Sunnyvale, predated the war
when the program focused primarily on a small fleet of large Type-A rigid dirigibles.

The defining feature of the LTA bases were their massive blimp hangars. These buildings
were usually designed to hold six blimps, which mandated a massive interior space. With
the exception of one hangar built in Weeksville and South Weymouth, the hangars
constructed during World War Il were built of wood due to wartime restrictions. Extending
over 15 stories in height, they were among the largest wood structures in the world. Some
of the surviving hangars, such as in Santa Ana, have been named as National Historic Civil
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Engineering Landmarks. Initially the plan was for six airships at each station, but later was
expanded to twelve at seven of the bases and eighteen at Richmond. Built around these
three massive hangars were support buildings and structures necessary for the operation of
the base. These included the Headquarters or Administration Building, barracks, helium
production and storage facilities, power plants, storage buildings, mess hall, and
recreational facilities. There were also runways, mobile mooring masts, and landing pads
for the launching, landing, and taxiing of LTA aircréft.

Two other bases in Florida housed a significant concentration of Navy blimps during the
war. Meacham Fieldnear Key West, served as the headquarters for Airship Utility
Squadron One. The field, which was the location of the municipal airport for the city of
Key West, initially turned into an Army air field after Pearl Harbor before the Navy took
over the field and operated it as an ancillary field for NAS Key West. After the war, the
field was returned to municipal control and is now part of the Key West International
Airport. NAS Banana River at Cape Canaveral directly supported anti-submarine warfare
from its location near the northerly entrance to the Florida Straithile primarily a
seaplane base, it was routinely utilized by NAS Richmond as a facility for launch and
recovery of airship patrols. After WWII it was transferred to the new Air Force, renamed
Patrick Air Force base and played an integral part in the NASA Space prtfgram.

There were nine other LTA bases in the United States that served as squadron headquarters
during World War II:

NAS L akehurst was the center of the Navy’s LTA program for most of its history. During
World War 1l the base served as the operational headquarters for both the Atlantic Fleet
and Airship Wing One. Much of the original base remains intact, including Hangar
Number One, which was recognized as a National Historic Landmark in 1975.

44 Department of the Navy, Building the Navy’s Bases in World War Il, Vol. |,
https://www.history.navy.mil/research/library/online-reading-room/title-list-alphabetically/b/building-the-
navys-bases/building-the-navys-bases-vol-1-part-1l.htmI#The%20Air%20Sta?hs

45 Vaeth, Blimps and U-Boats, 186.

46 Mormino, “World War 11,” 439.
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NAS Sunnyvale, also known as Moffet Field, was built in the early 1930s. It was the

second LTA base constructed and was for a brief time in the mid-1930s replaced Lakehurst
as the center of Navy LTA activity and research. During World War 11, it was the

operational headquarters of the LTA Pacific Fleet and Airship Wing Thilee facilities

were expanded during the war, with two additional hangars built on the property. After the
war, LTA activity on the west coast largely ceased. Moffet Field saw a second life as a
center of NASA research starting in the 1950s. It is currently owned by NASA and is part

of the Ames Research Center. The NAS Sunnyvale Historic District, which included the
three hangars and a c. 1933 Administrative Building, was listed in the National Register in
1994.

NAS South Weymouth was one of the first LTA bases constructed during World War Il.

It was one of only two under construction when the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor. It
hosted Squadron ZP-11, which reported to NAS LakeH#fdtere were two hangars
constructed on this base, including a steel hangar built before wartime restrictions were in
place and a second made later of wood. Following the end of World War I, the base was
used by the Navy for conventional aircraft for much of the 1950s. It was one of the last
bases to hold blimps when the Navy ended its LTA program in 1961. The wood hangar
was demolished after World War Il and the steel hangar was torn down in 1966. It
remained a Naval Reserve base until 1997, when it was transferred back to the local towns
in the area. Very little of the original base aside from its runways remain. Much of the base
has been repurposed into residential communities.

NAS Glynco was the headquarters of squadron ZP-15, which was part of Airship Fleet
One and reported to NAS Lakehurst. It was located in Glynn County, Georgia just north of
Brunswick. Two large wood hangars were constructed on the base along with barracks,
officer’s quarters, administrative buildings, helium storage tanks, and other ancillary
buildings necessary for the functioning of the base. NAS Glynco was one of the last active
LTA bases operating in the US. The base remained under Navy control until 1973. The

47 vaeth, Blimps and U-Boats, 53-54.
48 1hid., 20.
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two large wood hangars were destroyed in 1971 but the base still retains many elements of
the original operation, including three barracks buildings, the fire station, and various
storage buildings. The Federal Law Enforcement Training Center selected the former NAS
Glynco as its operational headquarters in 1975. The Brunswick Golden Isles Airport was
also built on location and uses the old runway as part of its operations.

NAS Weeksville was, along with South Weymouth, one of two LTA bases under
construction when the Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor. Located in Weeksville, North
Carolina, it was the first of the LTA bases built during World War Il in operation in April
1942. The first hangar built here was unusual in that it was constructed from steel, one of
only two such hangars built on LTA bases during this time. As wartime restrictions came
into place, a second wooden hangar was built. After the war, the Navy continued to use the
base until 1957, when it was decommissioned. It has since been privately owned, most
recently by blimp manufacturer TCOM. In 1995, the wood hangar burned down but the
older metal hangar remains.

NAS Huoma, located near Huoma, Louisiana, served as the headquarters of Squadron ZP-
22, which was part of Airship Wing Two based at NAS Richnfriticonsisted of a

single hangar and other ancillary buildings consistent with the operation of a base. After
the war, the base served as an aircraft storage facility until 1947 when it was transferred to
the city of Huoma and converted into a regional airport. The large wood hangar has been
demolished but its foundations are still visible. The barracks are now used for a school.

NAS Hitchcock, located in Hitchcock, Texas, hosted two squadrons, ZP-23 and ZP-24,
both of which were part of Airship Wing Two based at NAS Richmond. The base featured
a large single wood hangar similar to those built at the other blimp bases along with
administrative buildings, housing, and other amenities. This base only operated for 17
months, as it was repurposed for conventional airplanes. After the war, the base was
decommissioned and sold into private ownership. In 1961, hurricane damage forced the
demolition of the hangar. The concrete supports of the hangar as well as the concrete

49 1bid., 186.
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landing pads and a few ancillary buildings. The headquarters or administration building is
still standing and is intact condition and retains a higher level of integrity than the NAS
Richmond Headquarters. The base was not as significant as NAS Richmond, however.

NAS Santa Ana, located in Tustin, California, housed Squadron ZP-31. Commissioned in
1942, it held two large wooden hangars along with other ancillary buildings necessary for
the operation of the base. The base was decommissioned in 1949 but shortly afterwards in
1951 the Marine Corps acquired the base, which became the first in the country dedicated
solely to helicopter operations. The hangars were recognized early on for their significance
and were listed in the National Register in 1971. In addition to the hangars, the helium tank
building and mooring mats also remain.

NAS Tillamook, located in Tillamook, Oregon, was the headquarters of Squadron ZP-33.
The base featured two large wooden hangars of similar construction to the other blimp
hangars built at the time in addition to other buildings necessary for operations. The base
was decommissioned in 1948 and afterwards turned into an airport. Both hangars were
listed in the National Register in 1989, but Hangar A burned to the ground. The remaining
hangar, Hangar B, is now used as an aviation museum. In addition to this hangar, the
Headquarters or Administration Building remains along with a number of other associated
resources.

Criteria Consideration B

This building was relocated to its present site in 2010. The relocation was necessary
because the federal landlord agency could not allow the building to be restored for public
access in situ for security reasons. The COE offered to sell the historic building to the
Friends of the Miami Military Museum on the condition that it be moved off the federal
land. The National Park Service Southeast Regional Office approved the license allowing
the building to be relocated, under a Restrictive Covenant that it be used solely for historic
cultural purposes.
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Although relocated, the building was moved to a nearby location within the historic Naval
Air Station Richmond base boundaries, mitigating its impact upon its integrity. It

maintains its visual connection to the remnants of the blimp base operations, most notably
the large concrete pylon which is the last remnant of the large distinctive blimp hangars.
Although the general setting has changed since the 1940s with the construction of a zoo
and nearby suburban development, the building retains integrity of setting, feeling, and
association.
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GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

Verbal Boundary Description

The boundary extends around the footprint of the current location of the Naval Air Station
Richmond Headquarters building, located in parcel number 30-5926-000-0070 in Miami-
Dade County, Florida.

Boundary Justification

As the building has been relocated to its current location, the boundary only extends
around the footprint.
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PROPERTY OWNER

This property is subject to an agreement with Miami-Dade County and the Friends of the
Military Museum of South Florida. The Friends own the actual building itself while the
county owns the land underneath the building.

Owner 1:

Dr. Anthony Atwood, Executive Director
Friends of the Military Museum of South Florida
1825 Ponce de Leon Boulevard #367

Coral Gables, Florida 33134

Owner 2:

George Navarrete, Director

Miami-Dade County Park and Recreation Department
275 Northwest ? Street

Miami, Florida 33128
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PHOTOGRAPHIC REFERENCES

. Naval Air Station Headquarters Building,

. Miami-Dade County, Florida

. Michael Hart

. October 2016

. 500 South Bronough Street, Tallahassee, FL
. View of setting, facing west

. Photo 1 of 25

~NoO o, WNBE

. Naval Air Station Headquarters Building,

. Miami-Dade County, Florida

. Juan Alcala

. August 2016

. 500 South Bronough Street, Tallahassee, FL

. View of main (north) facade of building, facing southwest
. Photo 2 of 25

~NoOoOhWNE

Note: Numbers 1-5 are the same for the following photographs, except where noted.

6. Detail view of dormer, facing southwest
7. Photo 3 of 25

6. Detail view of window, facing southwest
7. Photo 4 of 25

. View of main (north) facade, facing southwest
. Photo 5 of 25

~N O

. Detail view of pediment and widow’s walk, facing southwest
. Photo 6 of 25

~N O

. Side view of portico, facing northwest
. Photo 7 of 25

~N O
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. Side view of main (north) fagade, facing southeast
. Photo 8 of 25

~N O

. View of east elevation, facing northwest
. Photo 9 of 25

~N O

. View of west elevation, facing southeast
. Photo 10 of 25

~N O

. View of rear (south) elevation, facing east
. Photo 11 of 25

~N O

. View of south elevation access door, facing north
. Photo 12 of 25

~N O

. Detail view of widow’s walk, facing west
. Photo 13 of 25

~N O

. Interior view of first floor central foyer space, facing southwest
. Photo 14 of 25

~N O

. Interior view of first floor staircase access, facing southwest
. Photo 15 of 25

~N O

. Interior view of second floor staircase access, facing southwest
. Photo 16 of 25

~N O

. Interior view of first floor central hallway, facing southeast
. Photo 17 of 25

~N O

. Michael Hart

. October 2016

. Interior view of first floor central hallway, facing northwest
. Photo 18 of 25

~NOo bW
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. Michael Hart

. October 2016

. Interior view of second floor central hallway, facing northwest
. Photo 19 of 25

. Michael Hart

. October 2016

. Interior view of first floor gallery number two, facing southeast
. Photo 20 of 25

. Michael Hart

. October 2016

. Interior view of second floor office, facing southwest
. Photo 21 of 25

. Michael Hart

. October 2016

. View of second floor Director’s Office, facing southwest
. Photo 22 of 25

. Interior view of third floor attic space, facing northeast
. Photo 23 of 25

. Michael Hart

. October 2016

. Interior view of third floor tower room, facing northeast
. Photo 24 of 25

. Photographer unknown

. Circa 1980s

. Historic view of rear (south) elevation, facing north
. Photo 25 of 25
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MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD
STEPHEN P. CLARK CENTER
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MAILBOX 114, (12™ FLOOR)

MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128

305-375-4058

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY
HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-13

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING
THE NATIONAL REGISTER NOMINATION
OF THE
RICHMOND NAVAL AIR STATION ADMINISTRATION BUILDING,
ALSO KNOWN AS “BUILDING #25”

WHEREAS, Richmond Naval Air Station (NAS) was commissioned on September 15,
1942, and beame the world’s largest blimp base; and '

WHEREAS, During World War II, Richmond Naval Air Station became the center of
the Lighter than Air (LAT) aviation activity for all the Caribbean; and

WHEREAS, At its wartime peak, Richmond NAS was home to 25 K-series blimps, had
a 2,000 foot diameter landing pad, eight circular concrete mooring pads, two runways, three
blimp hangars, a helium plant, and 3,000 men stationed at its facility; and

WHEREAS, Building #25 (the Administrative Building) is the only remaining base-
related building of the historic Richmond Naval Air Station; and

WHEREAS, in 1961, Building #25 became the headquarters for JMWAVE - a major
secret covert operation and intelligence gathering station operated by the Central Intelligence
Agency to overthrow the Cuban Revolution; and

WHEREAS, IMWAVE grew to be the largest CIA Station in the world outside of the
organization’s headquarters in Langley, Virginia, with 300-400 professional operatives,
approximately 100 operatives in Cuba, and approximately 15,000 anti-Castro Cuban exiles on
the payroll; and
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WHEREAS, in 1971, Building #25 was occupied by the Army Reserve, and elements of
the 324 MASH Unit were quartered in the building for approximately 10 years; and

WHEREAS, in 1982 the Marine Reserve Corps took over occupancy of Building #25,
and in 1991 it was last used for staging the deployment of Marines to the Persian Gulf War; and

WHEREAS, in order to save Building #25, on March 27, 2010 the building was moved
approximately one mile, relocating the structure from Federal land to where the building
currently rest on the grounds of the Gold Coast Railroad Museum; and

WHEREAS, on June 16, 2010, the Miami-Dade County Historic Preservation Board
designated the structure as a historic building, and the exterior of the building was restored
utilizing County Government Obligation Bond (GOB) funds, with assistance from Florida
Department of State’s Division of Historical Resources grants; and

WHEREAS, the building’s interior is now being renovated and built out to create South
Florida’s first Military Museum,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE 1T RESOLVED, that the Miami-Dade County Historic
Preservation Board, on Wednesday, December 21, 2016, supports the nomination of the
Richmond Naval Air Station Administration Building #25 for listing in the National Register of
Historic Places. ‘
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